
tained in the USSR amendment, which imposed
an obligation on the State to ensure the right
granted in paragraph 3.

rt had been remarked that the words in para­
graph 1, "rights as to marriage", referred also
to the dissolution of marriage. The Committee
should not be afraid, however, to make an ex­
plicit mention of divorce. That mention was far
from superfiuaus, as the inequality of men and
women was mOre pronounced in the case of di­
vorce than in the other phases of marriage. In
countries in which divorce was practised, WOmen
shoukl have the same rights in that respect as
men.

He acc:epted the drafting change proposed by
the Belgian representative.

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m.

IIUNDRED AND TWENTY·FIFI'H
MEETING

H eld at the Palais de Chaillot, Paris,
OH A10ndaYJ 8 November 1948, at 10.45 a,m.

Chairman: Ml'. Charles MALIK (Lebanon).

4·9. Dl'aft international declaration of
hUlllan rights CE/800) (continued)

ARTICLE 14 (continued)

Mrs. BEGTRUP (Denmark) thought article 14
one of the mast important in the declaration, par­
ticularly ta women, for whom marriage was not
only a family tic but also a decisive factor in their
social li fe.

For that reason partictllar care should be given
to the study of the position of women in con­
nexion with marriage and to the drawing up of
regulations defining the legal aspect of marriage
and its possible dissolution.

Hel' de1egation thought it necessary, moreover,
in order to lay stress on the dignity of the wife
and mother, ta indicate that husband and wife
\Vere on a footing of absolute equality, both le­
gal1y and morally. It was also important to empha­
size in article 14 the fact that the dignity of the
human persan could only be safeguarded if every
possibili ty of discrimination .vas eliminated.

Referring to the proposed amendments, she
asked the Chairman of the Commission on Hu­
man Rights to define the exact meaning of "equal
rights as to marriage". For if the tenn "mar­
riage" covered the case of a dissolution of the
contract, article 14 should not contain the word
"divorce". If, however, that idea were not con­
tained in the text, her delegation would prefer
the amendment submitted by the USSR (E/BOO,
page 33), which specified divorce.

Finally, she stlpported the Lebanese (A/e.
3/260) and Mexican (A/C.3/266) amendments,
which madè the text of the article clearer and
more easily understandable to everyone.

Mr. CARRERA ANDRADE (Ecuador) recalled
that the authors of the various amendments to
article 14 had explained the significance of equal

l'idée nette et simple que contient l'amendement
de l'l~RSS, q~i impose à l'Etat l'obligation de
garantir le drOIt accordé au paragraphe 3.

On a. ,fait observ~r que les mots "droits égaux
en matle,re de manage", au paragraphe 1, con­
cernen! ~galement la dissolution du mariage. La
COmt;nlSSlon ne ~evrait pas hésiter, néanmoins, à
mentIOnner explicitement le divorce. Cette men­
tion est loin d'être superflue étant donné que
l'inégalité des hommes et des femmes est plus
grande en matière de divorce qu'en ce qui con­
c~rne le~ autres aspects du mariage. Dans les pays
ou le divorce est reconnu, les femmes doivent
avoir, à cet égard, les mêmes droits que les
hommes.

M. Pavlov accepte la modification de rédaction
proposée par le représentant de la Belgique.

La séance est levée à 13 h. 15.

CENT VINGT-CINQUIEME SEANCE

Tenue G1t Palais de Chaillot, Paris,
le lundi 8 novembre 1948, à 10 h. 45.

Présiden"t: M. Charles MALIK (Liban).

49. Projet de déclaration internationale
des droits de l'homme CE/BOO)
( suite)

ARTICLE 14 (suite)

Mme BEGTRUP (Danemark) estime que l'article
14 est un des plus importants de la déclaration,
particulièrement pour les femmes, qui voient
dans le mariage non pas seulement un lien familial
mais aussi un facteur décisif de leur vie sociale.

C'es't pourquoi {ln doit accorder une attention
particulière à l'examen de la situation des femmes
dans le problème du mariage età l'élaboration
des règles définissant l'aspect légal du mariage et
de sa dissolution éventuelle.

De plus, la délégation du Danemark estime
nécessaire, pour souligner la dignité de l'épouse
et de la mère, d'indiquer que les époux sont sur
un pied d'égalité absolue, tant l'également que
moralement. Il est important, d'autre part, d'in­
sister dans l'article 14 sur le fait que la dignité
de la personne humaine ne peut être sauvegardée
que si l'on élimine toute possibilité de discrimi­
nation.

Abordant les amendements proposés, Mme
Begtrup demande à la Présidente de la Commis­
sion des droits de l'homme de définir le sens
exact de "droits égaux en matière de mariage".
Car si le terme "mariage" couvre le cas de
dissolution du contrat, l'article 14 ne doit pas
contenir le mot "divorce". Si, par contre, cette
idée ne ressort pas du texte, la délégation du
Danemark préfèrerait l'amendement présenté
par l'URSS. (E/800, page 33), qui traite du di­
vorce d'une manière explicite.

Enfin, Mme Begtrup appuie les amendements
du Liban (A/e.3/260) et du Mexique (A/e.3/
266), qui rendent le texte de l'article plus clair
et plus compréhensible pour tout un chacun.

M. CARRERA ANDRADE (Equateur), rappelant
que les auteurs des différents amendements à
l'article 14" ont expliqué la portée du droit

367



368

rights in marriage and he stressed the bct that
those rights should be upheld at every stage of
marriage, in other words, during marriage and
after the dissolution of the contract. It was nec­
essary therefore to make that article complete by
introducing the question of divorce.

Generally speaking, his delegation wished to
Ieeep the text of paragraph 1 after substituting
the expression "legal age" for the expression
"full age".

He also supported the Mexican amendment
(A/C.3/266) and the Uruguayan amendment to
it (124th meeting) which emphasized the need
fûr abolishing ail discrimination in marriage, as
weil as the USSR amendments.

He proposed that in paragraph 2, amended as
suggested by the Lebanese delegation, the expres­
sion "of both ... spouses" should be replaced by
the expression "of both contracting parties",
which he considered more legal.

As it considered the protection of the faroily
by the State to be recognized by the constitution
of every country, his de1egation approved the ad­
dition to paragraph 3 of the expression "by the
State" (E/800, page 33). It was not essential,
however, to mention in that article the protection
of society, recommended in addition by the USSR
amendment, for society had no definite means at
its disposai to ensure such protection.

Pointing out the importance of the principles
set forth in article 14, Ml'. BEAUFORT (Nether­
lands) could not accept the addition to paragraph
2 proposed by the USSR delegation. The first
paragraph dealt adequately with the equal rights
of both spouses as to marriage. There was there­
fore no need to repeat that same idea in para­
graph 2.

Without wishing to enter into any discussion
on the subject of divorce, he disapproved of dis­
criminatory measures in that event. The case of
men' and women should be dealt with on an equal
basis.

Pointing out that it would be deplorable to
mention divorce in article 14, he regretted that
certain people founded a family without realiz­
ing the importance of that act. Divorce was a
disrtlpting factor in society and to mention un­
necessarily and explicitly in the dec1aration of
human rights the principle of the equal rights
of both spouses as to divorce would imply, at
least ta ordinary men ail over the world, that the
United Nations approved divorce on the same
footing as marriage.

Referring to the second USSR amendment,
he agreed that society and the State were re­
sponsible for protecting the family. He was
afraid, however, that ta adopt that amendment
might give Governments a pretext to interfere
with the natural rights of the family which were,
in his opinion, beyond the reach of State laws.
He could not therefore vote in favour of the
USSR amendment.

His delegation approved the Lebanese amend­
ment, but thought the one submitted by Saudi
Arabia (A/C.3/240) could result in the State
making the right tû marry and found a family
conditional upon unacceptable restrictions.

d'égalité dans le mariage, souligne que ce droit
doit se manifester à tous les stades du mariage,
c'est-à-dire pendant le mariage et après la disso­
lution du contrat. Il est donc nécessaire de com­
pléter cet article en y introduisant la question
du divorce.

D'une manière générale, la délégation de
l'Equateur désirerait maintenir le texte de l'alinéa
1 après y avoir remplacé l'expression "âge nubile"
par "âge légal".

M. Carrera Andrade appuie également l'amen­
dement du Mexique (A/C.3/266) et l'amende­
ment proposé par l'Uruguay à cet amendement
(124ème séance), qui soulignent la nécessité
d'éliminer toute discrimination dans le mariage,
ainsi que les amendements de l'URSS.

Il propose de remplacer dans le paragraphe 2,
amendé dans le sens proposé par la délégation du
Liban, l'expression "des deux époux" par: "des
deux parties contractantes", qu'il trouve plus
juridique.

Estimant que la protection de la famille par
l'Etat est reconnue par les constitutions de tous
les pays, la délégation de l'Equateur approuve
l'addition à l'alinéa 3 de l'expression "par l'Etat"
(E/800, page 33). Mais il n'est pas indispensable
de parier dans cet article de la protection de la
société, que recommande également l'amendement
de l'URSS, car la société n'a pas à sa dispo­
sition de moyens définis pour assurer une telle
protection.

Soulignant l'importance des principes consacrés
dans l'article 14, M. BEAUFORT (Pays-Bas) ne
peut pas accepter l'addition au paragraphe 2 pro­
posée par la délégation de l'URSS. Le premier
paragraphe traite suffisamment de l'égalité des
droits des époux en matière de mariage. Il n'est
donc pas utile de répéter cette même idée dans le
paragraphe 2.

Sans vouloir entamer de discussion sur le di­
vorce, le représentant des Pays-Bas n'approuve
pas les mesures discriminatoires en cas de divorce.
L'homme et la femme doivent être traités sur
un pied d'égalité absolue.

Faisant remarquer qu'il serait déplorable de
parier du divorce dans l'article 14, il constate
avec regret que certaines personnes fondent une
famille sans se rendre compte de l'importance de
cet acte. Le divorce est un mal pour la société
qu'il a tendance à dissoudre, et faire mention de
façon inutile et explicite dans la déclaration des
droits de l'homme' du principe de l'égalité des
droits des époux en matière de divorce signifie­
rait, du moins pour le citoyen moyen, dans le
monde entier, que l'Organisation des Nations
Unies approuve le divorce au même titre que le
mariage.

En ce qui concerne le second amendement de
l'URSS, M. Beaufort admet que la société et
l'Etat ont la responsabilité de protéger la fa­
mille. Mais il craint que l'adoption de cet amen­
dement ne donne aux gouvernements un motif
pour s'ingérer dans les droits naturels de la
famille qui se placent, à son avis, au-dessus des
lois des Etats. Il ne pourra donc voter pour
l'amendement de l'URSS.

La délégation des Pays-Bas approuve l'amen­
dement du Liban, mais estime que l'amendement
de l'Arabie saoudite (A/C.3/240) peut avoir
pour conséquence de permettre à l'Etat de sou­
mettre le droit de se marier et de fonder une
famille à des restrictions inacceptables.

The El
\iell', igll
bath spa
muId nol

Finany
amendme
of the sol
of nou-d
Committt
not 10 gi'
article 2
~edaratic

Miss l
sidered tl
taken pla
lI'orded s
an iuterIJ
the princ
the dec1a

Hel' d
equality 1
which h.
be specif
dividuals
spirit bu
There w
\l'omen "
view. Th
fore be
legislatio
disabilit)
marriage

The 1

would "V

ment, W

human i
the Lcb;
ual Întl
the Frei
unneces!

Finall
rnitted l
concept
mention
equality

},[1'. ]

the pre'
10 expia
rnilted 1

Bef01

out, in
part 01
express
the ide
of the
pressio
delegal
pect of
was t}
age al'
couId '
nation:
as the
to dra

If,
the S\l

trodui
the w
resenl



'Ji"

. ,
'" . ~

'.. i

·.::I
l

.......•.:.,~.. '..,.. ~ .'

':: Il
!';~.- \••;:..~ -

" ":--

, ~

.. f;
t r

.~, \.
.1.•'
r

'~ !

. The. Egyptian ame.nd?1ent (A/C.3/264), in his
Vlew, 19nored the prmclple of the equal rights of
bath spouses as ta marriage and consequently
could not be adopted.

Finally, he wondered whether the Mexican
amendment did not detract from the importance
of the solemn declaration on the general principle
of non-discrimination made in article 2. The
Committee should reject that amendment sa as
not. to give. the impression that the provisions of
article 2 dld not apply ta other articles of the
decIaration, article 14, for instance.

. Miss BERNARDINO (Dominican Republic) con­
sldered that, from the discussion which had just
taken place, it was evident that article 14 was not
worded sufficiently cIearly and might give rise ta
an interpretation which would not correspond ta
the principles set forth in the first few articles of
the decIaration.

I-Ier cle1egation wanted the idea of absolute
eq~ality between men and women as ta marriage,
WhlCh ~lad been accepted by all delegations, ta
be speclfically expressed, for the nations and in­
di;ri?uals should be able to re1y not only on the
spmt but also on the letter of the declaration.
There were countries which had not yet granted
women absolute equality from the legal point of
vicw. The ulti111atc goal of article 14 should there­
fore be to influence governments ta revise their
legislation, if .necessary, in arder to abolish any
disability affecting women in connexion with
nmrriage.

The delegation of the Dominican Republic
would vote in favour of the Mexican amend­
ment, which was based on the most e1ementary
human justice. It would also vote in favour of
the Lebanese amendment which gave a more lib­
cral interpretation ta the article. It agreed with
the French delegation (A/C.3/244) that it was
unnecessary ta say "both spouses".

Finally, it would support the amendment sub­
mittecl by the USSR delegation, but thought the
concept of equality as regards divorce should be
mentioned in the first paragraph, together with
equality as regards marriage.

M r. BAROODY (Saudi Arabia) recalled that, at
the previous meeting, he had reserved the right
to explain the second part of the amendment sub­
mitted by his delegation.

Before doing sa, however, he wished to point
out, in reply ta the objections raised to the first
part of that amendment, that, in English, the
expression "full age" did not necessarily include
the idea of marriageable age, which the authors
of the text had certainly had in mind. The ex­
pression "legal matrimonial age", proposed by his
de1egation, took into account the physiological as­
pect o-f the question, for in practically no country
was the union of persans of non-marriageable
age allowed. Moreover, exceptions to that rule
could only be rectified, where they did exist, by
national legislation and not by a declaration such
as the one which the Committee was called upon
to draw up.

If, however, certain de1egations had doubts on
the subject, his delegation would not object to in­
trodueing into the English text of its amendment
the word "mature" suggested by thc Syrian rep­
resentative.

.L'amendement de l'Egypte (A/C.3/264) né­
ghge, à son avis, le principe d'égalité des droits
des époux en matière de mariage, et ne peut donc
pas être adopté.

Enfin, M. Beaufort se demande si l'amende­
ment du Mexique ne diminue pas l'importance de
la déclaration solennelle du principe général de la
non-discrimination faite à l'article 2. La Commis­
sion d~vrait rejeter cet amendement, sinon on
pourrait comprendre que les dispositions de l'ar­
ticle 2 ne s'appliquent pas aux autres articles de
la déclaration, notamment à l'article 14.

. Mlle BERNARDINO (République Dominicaine)
dit que, à la suite de la récente discussion il
apparaît nettement que l'article 14 n'est pas
rédigé assez clairement, de sorte que l'on peut
craindre une interprétation qui serait en contra­
diction avec les principes consacrés aux premiers
articles de la déclaration.

La délégation dominicaine voudrait que l'idée
de l'égalité absolue de l'homme et de la femme
en matière de mariage, acceptée par toutes les
délégations, fût énoncée explicitement, car les
peuples et les individus doivent pouvoir faire
confiance non seulement à l'esprit, mais également
à la lettre de la déclaration. Il y a des pays qui
n'ont pas encore concédé à la femme une égalité
absolue du point de vue juridique: l'objectif final
de l'article 14 devrait être d'amener les gouver­
nements à reviser leurs législations, le cas
échéant, de manière à abolir toute incapacité frap­
pant la femme en matière de mariage.

La délégation de la République Dominicaine
votera en faveur de l'amendement du Mexique,
qui s'inspire de la justice humaine la plus élémen­
taire. Elle votera pour l'amendement du Liban,
qui donne un sens plus libéral à l'article. Comme
la délégation de la France (A/C.3/244), elle
estime inutile de dire "les deux époux".

Enfin, elle appuiera l'amendement proposé par
la délégation de l'URSS. Elle pense toutefois que
la notion de l'égalité en matière de divorce devrait
figurer dans le premier alinéa, à côté de l'égalité
en matière de mariage.

M. BAROODY (Arabie saoudite) rappelle qu'à la
séance précédente, il s'est réservé le droit d'ex­
pliquer la seconde partie de l'amendement pré­
senté par la délégation.

A vant de le faire toutefois, il tient à faire re­
marquer, en réponse aux objections présentées
à la première partie de cet amendement, que,
en anglais, l'expression full age ne s'étend pas
forcément à la notion de nubilité, que les auteurs
du texte avaient certainement en vue. L'expres­
sion "âge légal pour contracter mariage", que
propose la délégation de l'Arabie saoudite, tient
compte de l'aspect physiologique de la question
puisqu'il n'est guère de pays où l'on permette
l'union d'êtres non nubiles. Du reste, les excep­
tions à cette règle ne peuvent être corrigées, là
où elles existent, que par les législations natio­
nales, et non par une déclaration comme celle que
la Commission est appelée à établir.

Toutefois, si certaines délégations éprouvent
des doutes à ce sujet, la délégation de l'Arabie
saoudite ne verrait pas d'inconvénient à intro­
duire dans le texte anglais de son amendement Je
mot mature suggéré par le représentant de la
Syrie.

369



N 'ther would it insist on the retention of the
word~ "within every country", which ,had been
• 1 d d w1'th the sole purpose of takmg more
lnc u e . . t' b tw en
fully inta account the d1fferenc~s eX1S mg . e e.
the national legislations of vanous cOU1~.tn~s. H1s
delegation would agree to. the. subStl;,utlOn of
"legal age" for "legal matnmomal age , as had
been suggested.

The object of the .second p~rt of the amen~­
ment submitted by h1S delegatlOn was ~o su?,stl­
tute in the first paragraph the expr~sslOn: are
entitled ta the full rights as defined m ~e mar­
riage laws of their country" for "are ent~t1ed ~o
equal rights as to marriage.". His delega~lOn d1d
not necessarily reject the 1de~ of equahty con­
tained in the basic text when tt proposed to sub­
stitute the words "the full rights': for "equal
rights", for it considered that the nghts of m~n
and women as to marriage should be assessed m
qualitative rather than quantitative terms. It was
for that reason that the respective. r~ghts of each
sex were so clearly defined ln all cml codes. Cer­
tain rights were identical for both men and
women whereas others were different, either for
reason~ of a biological nature or. ~~c~use t~ey
referred ta activities and respons1bl1lt1es Wh1Ch
were necessarily not the same for men and
women. Thus an expectant mother should en­
joy certain rights andprivileges which could not
be granted a man, whereas a man,. generally
speaking, enjoyed the rig?t, not recog~l.1zed for a
woman, of passing on h1S name ta h1s descend­
ants. Many other instances cauld be quoted.

In Saudi Arabia, marriage constituted a sort
of social contract defined by law and that system
had successfully survived some four!een .centu­
ries. A Moslem woman could own, mhent and
dispose of property, and that without her hus­
band's consent. In the event of a divorce, she au­
tomatically received a sum of money which the
husband had agreed to pay before their marriage
was celebrated. Her material fate did not depend
therefore on the decision of a tribunal, a decision
often long delayed in some countries. Those two
instances were sufficient illustration of the extent
to which Islamic law was explicit on the srnallest
details of marriage.

He wished, in that connexion, ta emphasize the
fact that apparently the authors of the draft dec­
laration had, for the most part, taken into con­
sideration only the standards recognized by west­
ern civilization and had ignored more ancient
civilizations whieh were past the experimental
stage, and the institutions of whieh, for example,
marriage, had proved their wisdom down through
the centuries. Tt was not for the Committee to
proc1aim the superiority of one civilization over
ail others or to establish uniform standards for
ail the countries in the world.

His delegation would therdore abide by the
second part of its amendment, as it considered
that the matrimonial traditions of every country
should be respected to the same degree.

Mrs. KALINOWSKA (Poland) stated that her
delegation would vote in favour of the Mexican

Elle n'insistera pas, d'autre part, sur le main­
tien des mots "dans chaque pays", uniquemen t
destinés à mieux tenir compte des différences
~xistant entre les législations nationales des diffé­
rents pays, et elle accepte de dire, ainsi qu'on
l'a suggéré, "âge légal" au lieu de "âge légal
pour contracter mariage".

M. Barüody rappelle ensuite que la seconde
partie de l'amendement présenté par sa déléga­
tion a pour but de remplacer l'expression "jouis­
sent de droits égaux en matière de mariage",
figurant au paragraphe 1, par: "jouissent de tous
les droits prévus par les lois de leur pays sur le
mariage". La délégation de l'Arabie saoudite ne
rejette pas nécessairement la notion d'égalité con­
tenue dans le texte de base lorsqu'elle propose de
substituer les mots "tous les droits" à l'expression
"droits égaux", parce qu'elle estime que les droits
de l'homme et de la femme en matière de mariage
doivent être évalués en termes qualitatifs plutôt
que quantitatifs. C'est la raison pour laquelle les
droits respectifs de chaque sexe sont si clairement
définis dans tous les codes civds. Certains droits
sont identiques pour l'homme et la femme: d'au­
tres, au contraire, diffèrent, soit parce qu'ils sont
détenninés par des facteurs d'ordre biologique,
soit qu'ils portent sur des sphères d'activités, des
responsabilités qui ne peuvent être les mêmes
pour l'homme et la femme. Ainsi urie femme
enceinte doit jouir de droits et de privilèges qui
ne peuvent être accordés à l'homme; d'autre part,
l'homme, d'une manière générale, jouit du droit
- qui n'est pas reconnu à la femme - de trans­
mettre son nom à sa postérité. On pourrait citer
bien d'autres exemples encore.

En Arabie saoudite, le mariage constitue nne
sorte de contrat social défini par la loi, qui a subi
avec succès l'épreuve d'environ quatorze siècles.
La femme musulmane peut posséder des biens,
hériter, disposer de ses biens, et cela indépendam­
ment du consentement de son mari. En cas de
divorce, elle reçoit automatiquement tlne somme
d'argent que l'époux s'est engagé à lui verser
avant la célébration du mariage; son sort matériel
ne dépend donc pas de la décision d'un tribunal,
décision qui se fait souvent attendre dans plu­
sieurs pays. M. Baroody déclare qu'il se limi tem
à citer ces deux exemples pour illustrer à quel
point la loi islamique est explicite quant aux
moindres détails du mariage.

Le représentant de l'Arabie saoudite voudrait,
à ce propos, souligner que la majorité des autenrs
du projet de déclaration ne semble avoir pris en
considération que les normes reconnues dans la
civilisation occidentale, et a négligé des civilisa­
tions plus anciennes qui, elles, ont dépassé Je
stade de l'expérimentation et dont les institutions,
notamment en matière de mariage, ont prouvé
leur sagesse au cours des siècles. Il ne peut s'agir,
pour la Commission, de proclamer la supériorité
d'une civilisation sur les autres ou d'établir des
normes uniformes pour tous les pays du monde.

La délégation de l'Arabie saoudite se pennet
donc d'insister sur la seconde partie de SOn amen­
dem~nt, car elle estime que les traditions matri­
momales de tous les pays doivent être respectées
au même titre.

Mme KALINOWSKA (Pologne) déclare que sa
délégation votera en faveur de l'amendement

amendment,
lJruguayan
il introducci
true cûncep
tial! of one
rliol! thot1!
\\iln discrim
forms of dis
ln marriage.

Tlle wen\.;
pro\'e the it
walOO in pl
lite seventee
~IJring the
!r.oll'n 1hat 1

;5 mell in al
ddegation "
mlh the COI

01 the equali
nized in hel
and marriag

Paland, tI
rote in fav
!ince it \Vas
Tlle man in

i der all the !

1 it 'l'as desi
equality wo
a5lurance n

The Poli!
!e(ond US~

cases in wl~

of society :
through SpI

molhers, U1.1

emergencie~

the like. Tl
pects: bye:
ligalion of
it might pc
mothers an
tralion cam
Franco Sp~

; The Pol
~melldment

Egypt sine
of' the pri
tablish.

It would
it considere

Finally,
rétention 0

bath illten,
{ully the
!exes UpOI

She reg
!enlative s
ment, sine­
10 vote f(
rights het,

Byado
Committcl
text whic
she woulc

370



amendment, in the modified form proposed by the
U ruguayan delegation (124th meeting), because
it introc1uced a fundamental idea inherent in a
true concept of democracy. Since eliscrimina­
tian of one type led to another, the Polish dele­
gation thought it logical to condemn, together
with discrimination on grounels of sex, a11 other
forms of discrimination that might affect freedom
in marriage.

The wealmess of the arguments adeluced to
prave the inequality of the sexes hael been re­
vealed in practice. In Poland, from the enel of
the seventeenth century onwards and especially
during the Second Worlel War, women had
shown that thcy were able to play the same part
as men in a11 spheres. For that reason the Polish
de1egation would like ta see inc1ueled together
\Vith the concept of the equality of rights, that
of the. equality of responsibility, which was recog­
nizec1 in her country in the laws on the family
and marriage.

Poland, though it opposeel easy divorce, would
vote in favour of the first USSR amendment,
since it was important ta be explicit on that point.
The man in the street would not, of course, pon­
der a11 the shades of meaning in the text, and if
it was desired to give him the assurance that
equality wouId obtain in cases of elivorce, that
assurance must be given unequivocally.

The Polish elelegation woulel also vote for the
second USSR amendment. There were countless
cases in which the family needed the protection
of society and the State: it had to be assisteel
through special provisions relating ta expectant
ll1others, nurseries for infants, food priorities in
cmergencies or in uneler-developeel countries, and
the like. The question might also have other as­
pects: by expressly laying upon the State the ob­
ligation of assuring the protection of the fami/y,
it might perhaps be possible ta prevent expectant
1l10thers and babies from being put into concen­
lTation camps, as unfortunate1y still happeneel in
Franco Spain or Greece, for instance.

The Polish de1egation woulel vote against the
amcndments submitted by Saueli Arabia anel
Egypt since their aeloption woulel imply a elenial
of the principle which it was proposed to es­
tablish.

I t wottld vote for the Lebanese proposaI, which
it considered satisfactory.

Finally, the Polish delegation woulel prefer the
retention of the formula "with the full consent of
bath intending spouses" since it conveyed more
fully the idea of absolute equality between the
sexes upon which article 14 was based.

She regretted that the United Kingdom repre­
sentative should have opposed the USSR amend­
ment since she had hoped a11 women would wish
to v~te for proposaIs affirming the equality of
rights between men and women.

By ac10pting some excellent amendments, the
Committee had the opportunity of improving a
text which was already fairly satisfactory, and
she waulc1 appeal to all delegations to contribute

prés~nté par, l~ délégation du Mexique, dans la
~erslOn modlfiee proposée par la délégation de
1Ur~guay (124ème séance), parce qu'il introduit
tll1e Idée fondamentale inhérente à la conception
v~rit~bl.e d~ la démocratie. Etant donné qu'une
dlSCnml11atlOn entraîne l'autre, la délégation de la
Pologne estime logique de condamner, en même
temps que la discrimination fondée sur le sexe
toutes les autres formes de discrimination pou~
vant affecter la liberté dans le mariage.

La pratique a démontré la faiblesse des argu­
ments tendant à prouver l'inégalité des sexes. En
Pologne, dès la fin du dix-septième siècle, et sur­
tout p,endant la deuxième guerre mondiale, les
femmes ont montré qu'elles étaient capables de
jouer le même rôle que les hommes dans tous
les domaines. C'est pourquoi la délégation de la
Pologne serait heureuse de voir inclure, à côté
de la notion de l'égalité des droits, celle de
l'égalité des responsabilités, que retiennent les
lois SUr la famille et le mariage de son pays.

La Pologne, qui ne se fait pas le défenseur du
divorce facile, se prononcera néanmoins en fa­
veur du premier amendement de l'URSS, car elle
pense que, dans ce cas, il est nécessaire d'être
explicite. Le premier venu n'analysera certaine­
ment pas toutes les nuances du texte, et si on veut
lui donner l'assurance que l'égalité existera en
matière de dissolution du mariage, il faut le dire
sans équivoque.

La délégation polonaise votera également en
faveur du second amendement de l'URSS. La
protection de la famille par la société et par l'Etat
est indispensable dans d'innombrables cas; la
famille doit pouvoir jouir de leur aide pour les
mesures spéciales destinées aux femmes en­
ceintes, la création dc crèches, les privilèges dans
le domaine de ravitaillement en cas ele crise ou
dans les pays insuffisamment développés, etc.
D'autre part, la question peut comporter d'autres
aspects: c'est ainsi qu'en imposant expressément
à l'Etat l'obligation d'assurer la protection de
la famille, on pourra peut-être empêcher que des
femmes enceintes et des bébés soient placés dans
des camps de concentration, ce qui se produit
malheureusement aujourd'hui encore en Espagne
franquiste ou cn Grèce, par exemple.

La délégation polonaise votera contre les
amendements présentés par l'Arabie saoudite et
par l'Egyptc, dont l'adoption équivaudrait à une
négation elu principe que l'on entend consacrer.

Elle votera pour la proposition de la déléga­
tion du Liban, qu'elle cstime satisfaisante.

Enfin, elle préférerait retenir la foqnule "avec
le plein consentement des deux époux", qui sou­
ligne mieux l'idée d'égalité absolue des deux sexes
dont s'inspire l'article 14.

En conclusion, Mme Kalinowska regrette que
la représentante elu Royaume-Uni se soit pro­
noncée contre l'amendement de l'URSS, car elle
espérait que tous les représentants du ~exe
féminin auraient à cœur de voter pour les motIOns
qui affinnent l'égalité des droits de l'homme et
ele la femme.

Soulignant que la Commission a l'oc;asi~~, en
adoptant d'exce11ents amendements, d amehorer
un texte déjà assez satisfa~sant, Mme K~l~no~ska
fait, en conclusion, appel a toutes les de1egatlOns

371



by their votes to the adoption ?f a principle essen­
tial to the progress of humamty.

Ml'. AZKOUL (Lebanon) was in favour of ar­
ticle 14 as adopted by the Commission on Human
Rights.

The latter had discussed at length the term "as
to marriage" and had decided that it covered aIl
phases of marriage.1 The USSR amendment con­
sequently added nothing to article 14.

Moreover, if the average person read the decla­
ration, he would have the impression that the
General Assembly of the United Nations had put
marriage and divorce on the same footing. But
marriage was an institution, whereas divorce was
mere1y an exceptional and regrettable aspect of
that institution.

He did not oppose the second USSR amend­
ment, since he thought it was the dutY of the
State ta protect the family.

He was in favour of the amendment submit­
ted by Saudi Arabia, since it added precision to
the basic text. He also favoured the French
amendment.

The Egyptian amendment did not seem to him
acceptable, since it omitted certain essentia1 fac­
tors.

Finally, the Lebanese delegation thought it
would be usefu1 to include in article 14 a ref­
erence ta the principle of non-discrimination.
Since, however, it did not know how far the
Mexican amendment on that point would impair
the efficacy of article 2, it wou1d abstain from
voting upon it.

Miss ZULOAGA (Venezuela) emphasized that in
national law the motives justifying divorce were
D'ot the same for men and women. The USSR
amendment consequently gave article 14 greater
1ega1 precision.

The Venezuelan de1egation had always pre~

ferred conciseness, considering that too many de­
tai1s would weaken the declaration of human
rights. In the case in point, however, the USSR
amendment, far from weakening the text of the
article, enlarged its scope.

It was the same with the Mexican amendment
on non-discrimination. The Venezue1an de1ega­
tion had no hesitation in approving it, the more
so as the Constitution of Venezuela provided, in
its article 47, for State protection of the family
"whatever its origin". '

Ml'. ApPADORAI (India) expressed his full ap­
prova1 of the basic text of article 14 with the
amendment proposed by the French de1egation.
He wou1d request the Chairman to take a sepa­
rate vote on the proposed deletion of the word
"both" in paragraph 2.

He was unab1e to vote for the amendment sub­
mitted by Saudi Arabia, as it was contrary to the

. spirit of the first paragraph and as he preferred
the term "of full age" ta "of 1ega1 matrimonial
age".

VYhi1e appr?ving. its tmde;r1ying princip1es, the
Indlan delegatlOn dld not beheve that the Mexican

1 See documents E/CNA/SR,58 and E/CN.4/SR.62.

pour que, par leur vote, elles contribuent à
l'adoption d'un principe qu'il importe de con­
sacrer pour assurer le progrès de l'humanité.

M. AZKOUL (Liban) appuie l'article 14 dans sa
rédaction adoptée par la Commission des droits
de l'homme.

Il rappelle que la Commission, après avoir
longuement discuté sur l'expression "en matière
de mariage", a décidé que cette expression couvre
toutes les phases du mariage l

• Ainsi, l'amende­
ment de l'URSS n'ajoute rien à l'article 14.

De plus, si l'homme du cOmmtUl lit la dé­
claration, il aura l'impression que l'Assemblée
générale de l'Organisation des Nations Unies a
placé le mariage et le divorce sur le même plan.
En réalité, le mariage est une institution, alors
que le divorce n'est qu'une des phases excep­
tionnelles et regrettables de cette institution.

Abordant le second amendement de l'URSS,
M. Azkou1 estime que l'Etat doit protéger la
famille. C'est pourquoi il ne s'opposera pas à cet
amendement.

M. Azkoul est favorable à l'amendement de
l'Arabie saoudite, qui précise utilement le texte
de base. Il approuve également l'amendement de
la France.

Quant à l'amendement de l'Egypte, il néglige
certains éléments essentiels et lui paraît inac­
ceptable.

Enfin, la délégation du Liban estime utile
d'inclure dans l'article 14 un rappel du principe
de la non-discrimination. Cependant, elle ne sait
pas dans quelle mesure l'amendement du Mexique
proposé dans ce sens pourrait porter préjudice
à la force de l'article 2. Elle s'abstiendra donc de
voter sur cet amendement.

Mlle ZULOAGA (Venezuela) souligne que, dans
de nombreuses législations nationales, les motifs
pouvant justifier le divorce ne sont pas les
mêmes lorsqu'il s'agit de l'homme ou de la
femme. L'amendement de l'URSS apporte donc
à l'article 14 une précision nécessaire du point
de vue juridique.

La délégation du Venezuela a toujours préféré
la concision, estimant qu'un excès de détails
aurait pour résultat d'affaiblir la déclaration. Elle
pense toutefois que dans le cas actuel, l'amende­
ment de l'URSS, loin d'affaiblir le texte de
l'article 14, en élargit la portée.

Il en est de même de l'amendement du Mexique
relatif à la non-discrimination: la délégation du
Venezuela hésite d'autant moins à l'appuyer que
1~ Constituti'Ûn de son pays assure, en son ar­
bcle 47, la protection de l'Etat à la famille
"quelle que soit son origine".

. ~. ~PPADORAI (Inde) se déclare entièrement
S,atisfalt du texte de base de l'article 14 avec
1amendement proposé par la délégation de la
France. Il demande au Président de mettre sé­
parément aux voix la suppression proposée du

t Cid IJma eux, au paragraphe 2.
.Estim~nt que l'amendement de l'Arabie saou­

dIte va a l'encontre de l'esprit du premier alinéa
et qye, d'autre part, il préfère l'expression "âcre
nubIle" à l'expression "âge légal", il ne pour~a
voter pour cet amendement.
. Enfin, la délégation de l'Inde approuve le prin­

cIpe de l'amendement du Mexique, mais ne pense

'Voir E/CNA/SR.58 et E/CNA/SR,62.

amendmf
uiminati

Mrs. 1
rep!}'ing
rive of 1
sim on :
'marriag
original ,
Irom the

It \Vas
wi!hin tl
ination,
article 2

The S~

not seem
used in j

01 ensur]

Mr. P.
lies) sail
neœssaIJ
lImn m
ralion 01
wnfined

The 01
the Unitl
mg. The
mcourag
hllsband
of divor
the fami

As feI

in diyor'
man rae
adivo1'e
mount tl

In an
he woull
in the (
10 prot~

that pro

lI1's.
States l'

given a
ered it
French
mggestl
words
pfaced 1

Her
Lebane

Mr.
milIce
the sar
lights
those c

te.xt 01

He
the tel
matrir
of Sa
child
counll

T~

wide,

372



amendment would be sufficient to abolish all dis­
crimination.

Mrs. ROOSEVELT (United States of America),
replying ta the question asked by the representa­
tive of Denmark, pointed out that the Commis­
sion on Ruman Rights had interpreted the tenn
"marriage" in its widest sense. Article 14, in its
original draft, deaIt with al! stages of marriage
from the contract to the divorce.

It was in her opinion unnecessary to mention
within that article the principle of non-discrim­
ination, which had been adequately covered in
article 2 of the dec1aration.

The second part of the USSR amendment did
not seem necessary since the word"protection"
used in the original text also implied the means
of ensuring that protection.

Mr. PAVLOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Repub­
lics) said that the Committee must take all the
necessary steps to ensure absolute equality be­
tween men and women. Article 14 of the decla­
ration of human rights should therefore not be
confined ta half-measures.

The objections raised by the representatives of
the United States and Lebanon were not convinc­
ing. The purpose of his amendments was not ta
encourage divorce but ta ensure the equality of
husband and wife during marriage and in the case
of divorce, as weil as the effective protection of
the family by society and by the State.

As regards the equality of husband and wife,
in divorce, the USSR amendl11ents took the hu­
man factor into account, for the refusaI ta grant
a divorce in the case of a family crisis was tanta­
mount to a flagrant denial of freedom.

In answer ta the United States representative,
he would point out that it was not enough to state,
in the dec1aration, that the family had the right
ta protection without specifying by what means
that protection would be ensured.

Mrs. BEGTRUP (Denmark) thallked the United
States representative for the explanations she had
given of the tenn "as to marriage". She consid­
ered it necessary, however, to point out that the
French tenu was better than the English, and
suggested the latter might be made clearer if the
words "equal rights as to marriage" were re­
placed by the words "equal matrimonial rights".

Her de1egation would vote in favour of the
Lebanese and Mexican amendments.

Mr. CASSIN (France) believed that the Com­
mittee should worIe for social progress and at
the same time so draft the declaration of human
rights as to malce it acceptable to all. Bearing
those considerations in mind, he thought the basic
text of article 14 was satisfacto ry.

He agreed with the representative of India that
the term "of full age" was preferable to "of legal
matrimonial age" proposed by the representative
of Saucli Arabia. If that expression were used,
child marriages, recognized as lcgal in certain
countries, would be justifiable.

The expression "as to marriage" was the
widest that could be used; it covered the whole of

pas qu'il soit suffisant pour abolir toute discrimi­
nation.

Mme ROOSEVELT (Etats-Unis d'Amérique),
répondant à la question posée par la représen­
tante clu Danemark, précise que la Commission
a clonné au terme "mariage" son sens le plus
large. En effet, l'article 14, sous sa forme initiale,
traite de toutes les phases du mariage, depuis
le contrat jusqu'au divorce.

Mme Roosevelt estime qu'il est inutile de men­
tionner dans cet article le principe de la non­
discrimination, suffisamment développé à l'ar­
ticle 2 de la déclaration.

Enfin, la seconde partie de l'amendement de
l'URSS ne lui paraît pas nécessaire, car le mot
"protection", figurant dans le texte initial, im­
plique les moyens assurant cette protection.

M. PAVLOV (Union des Républiques socialistes
soviétiques) déclare que la Commission devrait
prendre toutes les mesures nécessaires pour
assurer l'égalité absolue entre les femmes et les
hommes. L'article 14 de la déclaration ne peut
donc pas se contenter à ce sujet de ~emi-mesures.

Estimant que les objections des représentants
des Etats-Unis et du Liban ne sont pas convain­
cantes, M. Pavlov souligne que le but de ses
amendements est non pas d'encourager le divorce,
mais d'assurer l'égalité des époux pendant le
mariage et en cas de divorce, ainsi que la pro­
tection efficace de la famille par la société et
l'Etat.

Les amendements de l'URSS tiennent compte,
en traitant de l'égalité des époux devant le di­
vorce, d'un facteur humain. En effet, le refus
d'accorder le divorce en cas de crise familiale
équivaut à une privation de liberté flagrante.

En réponse à la représentante des Etats-Unis,
il fait remarquer qu'il est insuffisant d'énoncer,
dans la déclaration, le droit à la protection pour
la famille sans dire par quel moyen cette protec­
tion sera assurée.

Mme BEGTRUP (Danemark) remercie la repré­
sentante des Etats-Unis des explications qu'elle
a fournies au sujet de l'expression "en matière
de mariage". Toutefois, Mme Begtrup ne peut
s'empêcher de remarquer que la formule fran­
çaise est plus heureuse que la formule anglaise,
et propose de rendre cette dernière plus claire en
remplaçant les mots: equal rights as to marriage
par: eqttal matrimonial rights.

Mme Begtrup ajoute que sa délégation se pro­
noncera en faveur des amendements proposés par
le Liban et le Mexique.

M. CASSIN (France) estime que la Commission
doit se préoccuper, d'une part, de réaliser des
progrès dans le domaine social et, d'autre part, de
donner à la déclaration des droits de l'homme
un caractère tel qu'elle puisse être acceptée par
tous. C'est pourquoi il considère comme satis­
faisant le texte de base de l'article 14.

Il estime, avec le représentant de l'Inde, que
l'expression "âge nubile" est préférable à l'ex­
pression "âge légal", proposée par le représen­
tant de l'Arabie saoudite. En effet, l'emploi de
cette dernière expression permettrait de justifier
les mariages d'enfants, qui sont reconnus comme
légaux dans certains pays.

M. Cassin estime que l'expression "en matière
de mariage", est la plus large que l'on puisse

i
i
1

1

373



374

married life, that is, the dissolution of marriage
as well as marriage. Countries which had divorce
laws could not after all impose the use of the
word "divorce" in the declaration when certain
national constitutions did not admit it. That was
why he preferred the term "as to marriage" ,
which was very satisfactory.

He would be prepared to accept the Lebanese
amendment on condition that its purport was to
substitute the word "free" for the word "full"
and not to use both words in juxtaposition.

In answer t6 the representative of Ecuador, he
pointed out that he was prepared to replace the
words des dettx époux (of both spouses) by the
words des futurs époux (of the intending
spouses) ; indeed the latter term corresponded ex­
actly to the term used in the English text.

As to paragraph 3 of article 14, he fe1t that
the text was adequate if it specified the need for
protection. Such protection should not be pro­
vided solely by the State; it must be provided
at all stages from the social group to the world
community not only by public bodies but also by
private or religious institutions, wherever they
existed.

The French de1egation would vote in favour of
the basic text together with the Lebanese amend­
ment which constituted a minar drafting change.
The other amendments, though extreme1y inter­
esting, were in his opinion unnecessary.

Mrs. IKRAMuLLAH (Pakistan) said aIl civilized
countries could accept article 14, which she
thought was designed to prevent child marriage
and marriages contracted without the consent of
both parties, and also to ensure protection of
women after divorce and the safeguarding of
their property.

Since the laws of Pakistan recognized aIl the
rights referred to in article 14, her delegation
was prepared to accept it. She would wish to make
it clear, however, that "equal rights" must not
mean "identical rights". Ic1entical rights for
women as to marriage could in some cases be a
liability to them rather than an asset. That point
had been ably put by the representative of Saudi
Arabia, and the Pakistan de1egation would have
been the more ready to support his amendment as
the Mohammedan laws of marriage in all cOttn­
tries where they are applied gave adequate safe- .
guards to \Vomen. Unfortunately however, she
could not support the amendment, as she fcared
it would enable countries with laws discriminat­
ing against women to continue to apply them.

The Pakistan delegation opposed the Mexican
am.et;dment because it completely disregarded the
rehglOus factor as a hindrance to marriage.

The ClIAliu.1.AN put ~o the vote the Egyptian
amendment whlch substltuted the following text
for that of article 14 (A/C.3/264) :

e.mploye~: elle c,once,rn~ l'ense,?ble de l'institu­
tion co,nJugale, c est-a-dlre aussI bien le marI'

d· l' Sil' " ageque sa ISS? ~t10r:. e on . tU, les pays qui posse-
dent une leglslatlon de divorce ne peuvent to t
de même pas imposer l'emploi du mot "divorc~'
~an~ la déclarat!on, étant donné que les con~­
t~tutlOns de c~rtams pays ne, l~ rec?nnaissent pas;
c es~ pourquoI ~. C~?sm I?refere 1~xpression "en
m~t1ere de manage , qt1l est pleinement satis­
faisante.

, Le représent~ntd~ la,Franc~ .est prêt à accepter
l,am.endement hba!lals, a conditIOn .toutefois, qu'il
s agisse de substituer le mot "hbre" au mot
"plein", et non de juxtaposer ces deux mots.

Répondant au représentant de l'Equateur M.
Cassin indique qu'il est disposé à remplace~ les
mots "des deux époux" par "des futUrs époux".
en effet, cette dernière expression correspond
exactement à celle qui figure dans le texte anglais.

Quant au, paragraphe 3 de l'article 14, le
représentant de la France pense que, en formulant
l'idée de la nécessité d'une protection, le texte
répond suffisamment au but recherché. En effet,
cette protection ne doit pas être assurée unique­
ment par la société étatique; elle doit être assurée,
à tous les échelons, depuis le groupe social
jusqu'à la communauté mondiale, par les orga­
nismes publics comme par les institutions privées
et les institutions religieuses là olt il en existe.

M. Cassin termine en déclarant que la déléga­
tion française votera pour le texte de base, sous
réserve de l'amendement libanais, qui n'est qu'une
légère modification de rédaction. Quant aux au­
tres amendements, il considère que, tout en étant
très intéressants, ils ne sont pas nécessaires.

Mme IKRAMULLAH (Pakistan) considère que
tous les pays civilisés peuvent accepter l'article
14, qu'elle interprète comme tendant à empêcher
les mariages d'enfants et les mariages contractés
sans le consentement des deux parties contrac­
tantes, ainsi qu'à assurer la protection de la
femme après le divorce et la sauvegarde de ses
biens.

Les lois de son pays reconnaissent tous les
droi ts spécifiés dans l'article 14, aussi sa déléga­
tion est-elle disposée à l'accepter. Elle désire
toutefois préciser que par "droits égaux" on ne
doit pas entendre "droits identiques", car, ~~ns
certains cas, l'égalité absolue de droits en ~atI~re

de mariage pourrait se traduire par une situatIOn
préjudiciable pour les femmes. Cela a été très
bien exposé par le représentant de l'Arabie saou~
dite, et la délégation du Pakistan aurait appuye
son amendement d'autant plus volontiers que les
lois musulmanes relatives au mariage donnent,
dans tous les pays olt elles sont appliquées, une
garantie suffisante à toutes les femmes; toute­
fois, elle ne le fera pas car elle craint que c:t
amendement ne permette aux pays do.nt les, lOIS
sont défavorables aux femmes de contl11uer a les
appliquer.

La délégation du Pakistan s'oppose à l'amende­
ment du Mexique parce qu'elle ne peu! ~ccepter
qu'on ne tienne aucun compte des consIderatIOnS
religieuses pouvant empêcher le mariage.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix l'amendement pré­
,senté par la délégation de l'Egypte, qui te~d à
remplacer l'article 14 par le texte sUivant
(A/C.3/264) :

Mr,
litS)
~û1W

tonce]
~uesli

Thf
su~mi
Il~th
~milal

Mr,
~Iaine

Mmn
or rel
~ue t(

Mf
woula
lubmi
ceptal
every
le~lil
reaSOi

Th
wilh

Th
lubm
J/261
arlicl
I~e!

IIV

er re

M
vole
tal\.

A
hl

Sovi
Den
~ia,
Pen
ist]
Un

j

Fr,
Ne
Un

Le

wl
ln



375

-

"Everyone has the right to found a family,
which is a fundamental element of society, and is
entitled to the protection of that family."

The amendment was rejected by 36 votes to
none, with 3 abstentions.

Mr. PAVLOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Repub­
lies) said he had voted against the amendment
because it did not take into account the essential
concept of the equality of men and women in aU
questions relating to marriage.

The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the proposaI
submitted by the delegation of Uruguay at the
124th meeting to add the words "or any other
limitation" at the end of the Mexican amendment.

Mr. JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCHAGA (Uruguay) ex­
plained that the aim of his proposaI was to con­
demn not only limitations due to race, nationality
or religion, but also such limitations as might be
due to class distinction or political heliefs.

Mr. GARdA BAUER (Guatemala) stated he
would be unable to vote in favour of the proposaI
submitted by the delegation of Uruguay, as ac­
ceptance of the principle it involved would remove
every possibility (Jf marriages being prevented for
legitimate and justifiable reasons, for example
reasons based on medical objections.

The proposal ~uas rejected by 22 votes ta 7,
witlt 11 abstentions.

The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the amendment
submitted by the delegation of Mexico (A/C.
3/266), proposing to insert at the beginning of
article 14, before the words "men and women",
the following words:

"Without any limitation due to race, nationality
or religion".

Mrs. KALINOWSKA (Poland) requested that the
vote on that amendment shoulc1 he taken by roll­
caU.

A vote was taken by roll-call, as follows:
In favour: Argentina, Burma, Byelortlssian

Soviet Socialist Republic, Chile, Czechoslovakia,
Denmark, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Ethio­
pia, Guatenlala, Haiti, India, Mexico, Norway,
Peru, Poland, Sweden, Ukrainian Soviet Social­
ist Republic, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics,
Uruguay, Venezuela, Yugoslavia.

Against: Australia, Belgium, Canada, China,
France, Greece, Honduras, Iraq, Luxembourg,
N etherlands, New Zealand, Pakistan, Syria,
United Kingdom, United States of America.

Abstentions: Afghanistan, Bolivia, Brazil, Iran,
Lebanon, Saudi Arabia.

The amendment was adopted by 22 votes to 15,
with 6 abstentions.

Mr. ANZE MATIENZO (Bolivia) stated that,
while he was in agreement with the substance of
the Mexican agreement, he had abstained from
voting because he tll(Jught that the principle of
non-discrimination was already established in arti­
cle 2 of the dec1aration; it was therefore unnec­
essary to restate that principle each time a risk
of discrimination was involved.

"Toute personne a le droit de constituer une
famille, élément fondamental de la société, et
elle a le droit à la protection de cette famille."

Par 36 voix contre zéro, avec 3 abstentions,
l'amendement est rejeté.

M. PAVLOV (Union des Républiques socialistes
soviétiques) a voté contre cet amendement, parce
que celui-ci ne tient pas compte de la notion
essent~lle de l'égalité de l'homme et de la femme
en toute matière de mariage.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la proposition pré­
sentée par la délégation de l'Uruguay à la 124èrne

séance et tendant à ajouter les mots "ni sans
aucune autre restriction", à la fin de l'amende­
ment mexicain.

M. JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCHAGA (Uruguay) précise
que le but de sa proposition est de condamner,
non seulement les restrictions fondées sui la
race, la nationalité ou la religion, mais également
les restrictions qui pourraient se fonder, par
exemple, sur les classes sociales ou les convic­
tions politiques.

M. GARciA BAUER (Guatemala) déclare qu'il
ne pourra pas voter en faveur de la proposition
présentée par l'Uruguay, car, si l'on accepte le
principe qu'elle implique, on écarte toute pos­
sibilité d'empêcher des unions pour des motifs
valables et justifiés, comme c'est le cas lorsqu'il
s'agit de motifs fondés sur des raisons médicales.

Par 22 voL... contre 7, avec 11 abstentions, la
propo'Sition est rejetée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix l'amendement pré­
senté par la délégation du Mexique (A/C.3/266).
Cet amendement tend à ajouter, au début de
l'article 14, avant les mots: "l'homme et la
femme", les mots suivants:

"Sans aucune restriction fondée sur la race,
la nationalité ou la religion".

Mme KALINOWSKA (Pologne) demande que le
vote sur cet amendement ait lieu par appel
nominal.

Il est procédé ml vote par appel nominal.
Votent pOj,tr: Argentine, Birmanie, République

socialiste soviétique de Biélorussie, Chili, Tchéco­
slovaquie, Danemark, République Dominicaine,
Equateur, Ethiopie, Guatemala, Haïti, Inde,
Mexique, Norvège, Pérou, Pologne, Suède, Ré­
publique s>ocialiste soviétique d'Ukraine, Union
des Républiques socialistes soviétiques, Uruguay,
Venezuela, Yougoslavie.

Votent contre: Australie, Belgique, Canada,
Chine, France, Grèce, Honduras, Irak, Luxem­
bourg, Pays-Bas, Nouvelle-Zélande, Pakistan,
Syrie, Royaume-Uni, Etats-Unis d'Amérique.

S'abstiennent: Afghanistan, Bolivie, Brésil,
Iran, Liban, Arabie saoudite.

Par 22 voi$' contre 15, avec 6 abstentions,
l'amerndernent est adopté.

M. ANZE MATIENZO (Bolivie) déclare qu'il est
abstenu de prendre part au vote parce que, tout
en étant d'accord quant au fond de l'amende­
ment mexicain, il estime que l'article 2 de la
déclaration consacre déjà le principe de la non­
discrirnination et qu'il est inutile de répéter ce
principe chaque fois qu'il y a risque de discrimi­
nation.

; .



Mr. CONTOUMAS (Greece) also agreed with the
substance of the Mexican amendment, but had
voted against it for the reason given by the repre­
sentative of Balivia.

The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the new text of
paragraph 1 of article 14 proposed by the repre­
sentative 'Of Saudi Arabia (A/C.3/240). The text
would be voted upon in two parts.

He put to the vote the first part of the amend­
ment:

"Men and women of legal matrimonial age
within every country have the right to marry and
ta found a family."

That part of the amendment was rejected by
24 votes to 4, with 7 abstentions.

The CHAIRMAN put ta the vote the seoond part
of the amendment:

"and are entitled to the full rights as defined in
the marriage laws of their country".

That part of the amendment was rejected by
38 votes to 1, with 6 abstentions.

The CI-IAIRMAN put ta the vote the Syrian pro­
posaI to replace the word "full" in the English
text of paragraph 1 of article 14 by the word
"mature".

The proposal was rejected by 22 votes to 6,
with 12 abstentions.

The CHAIRMAN put ta the vote the Danish pro­
posaI to replace the words "equal rights as to
marriage" in paragraph 1 by "equal matrimonial
rights", in the English text.

The proposal was rejected by 19 votes to 7~

with 13 abstentions.

The CI-IAIRMAN put ta the vote the amendment
submitted by the USSR de1egation (E/SOO, page
33) proposing the addition, at the end of para.­
graph 2, of the sentence:

"Men and women shall enjoy equal rights both
during marriage and when divorced."

The amendment was adopted by 17 votes to 16,
with 9 abstentions.

Mr. CONTOUMAS (Greece) agreed with the
substance of the amendment, but had voted against
it because he thought that it constituted an un­
necessary repetition, divorce being already cov­
ered by the formula "as ta marriage" in para­
graph 1.

The CHAIRMAN put ta the vote the Lebanese
amendment (A/C.3/260) proposing the insertion
of the words "free and" before the words "full
consent" in paragraph 2.

The amendment was adopted by 36 votes to
none, with 5 abstentions.

The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the pr0P'Osal
submitted by the representative of Eeuador Jor
the substitution, in· paragraph 2, of the words
"contracting parties" for the word "spouses".

The proposal was rejected by 27 votes to .13,
with 3 abstentions.

There being no objections, it was agreed that
the french text should read des futurs époux
and the English text uof the intending spouses".

M. CONTOUMAS (Grèce) indique qu'il est égale­
ment d'accord sur le fond de l'amendement mexi­
cain, mais qu'il a voté contre cet amendement
pour la raison qui vient d'être exposée par le
représentant de la Bolivie.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la nouvelle rédac­
tion proposée par le représentant de l'Arabie
saoudite (A/C.3/240) pour le paragraphe 1 de
l'article 14. Il annonce que le vote portera séparé­
ment sur les deux parties du texte proposé.

Il met aux voix la première partie de l'amen­
dement:

"Dans chaque pays, l'homme et la femme
ayant atteint l'âge légal pour contracter mariage
ont le droit de se marier et de fonder une
famille."

Par 24 voix contre 4, avec 7 abstentions, cette
partie de l'amendement est rejetée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la seconde partie
de l'amendement:

"Ils jouissent de tous les droits prévus par les
lois de leur pays sur le mariage".

Par 38 voix contre une, aVeC 6 abstentions,
cette partie de l'ame11dement est rejetée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la proposition de
la Syrie tendant à remplacer, dans le texte
anglais du paragraphe 1 de l'article 14, le mot
full par le mot mature.

Par 22 voix contre 6, avec 12 abstentions, la
proposition est rejetée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la proposition du
Danemark tendant à remplacer, dans le texte an­
glais, l'expression du paragraphe 1, equal rights
as to marriage par equal matrimonial rights.

Par 19 voi.t' contre 7, avec 13 abstentions, la
proposition est rejetée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix l'amendement pré­
senté. par la délégation de l'URSS (E/800, page
33) et visant à ajouter à la fin du paragraphe 2,
la phrase:

"Les hommes et les femmes jouissent des
mêmes droits au regard du mariage et du
divorce."

Par 17 voix contre 16, avec 9 abstentions,
l'amendement est adopté.

M. CONTOUMAS (Grèce) déclare qu'il est
d'accord sur le fond de cet amendement, mais
qu'il a voté contre parce qu'il considère que cette
phrase constitue une répétition mutile, étant donné
que l'expression "en matière de mariage", au
paragraphe 1, s'étend également au divorce.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix l'amendement du
Liban (A/C.3/260) tendant à ajouter au para­
graphe 2 les mots: "libre et" avant les mots
"plein consentement".

Par 36 voi.t' contrq zéro} avec 5 abstentions,
l'amendement est adopté.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la proposition du
représentant de l'Equateur tendant à remplacer,
au paragraphe 2, le mot "époux" par les mots
"parties contractantes".

Pa·r 27 voix contre 13, avec 3 abstentions, la
proposition est rejetée.

En l'absence de tOtlte objection il est décidé de
dire: "des futurs époux", dans le texte français
et of the intending spouses dans le texte anglais.

376



The CI-IAIRMAN put to the vote the second part
of the amendment submitted by the USSR, pro­
posing the addition of the words "by society and
the State" at the end of paragraph 3 of article 14.

Mrs. KALINOWSKA (Poland) requested that the
vote on that amendment be taken in parts.

The CHAIRMAN put ta the vote the USSR pro­
"posai to add the words "by society" at the end of
paragraph 3.

That proposa! was adopted by 22 votes ta 13.

The CHAIRMAN put ta the vote the USSR pro­
posai to add the words "and the State".

.That proposa! was adopted by 25 votes ta 12}
"lmth 5 abstentions.

The CHAIRMAN then put ta the vote the full
text of article 14 as amended.

Article 14} as amended, was adopted by 37
"Votes to 3} with 3 abstentions.

Mr. . AZKOUL (Lebanon) explained that his
delegahon had voted against the adoption of arti­
de 11, partIy because it repeated the concept of
equahty hetween men and women twice for no
reason at an, and partIy because while affirming
the principle of equality during the actual period
of marriage and at its dissolution, it did not pro­
VIde for the need ta ensttre such equality also at
the time of the conclusion of the l11arriage
'Contract.

The Lehanese delegation reserved its right to
put the question before the General Assembly.

Ml'. CASSIN (France) stated that his delegation
had been compelled to vote against article 14, not
on account of its substance, hut because it was
1.mahle to acccpt the text as it stood.

Referring to the French text, he pointed out in
particular that, according to paragraph 1 of article
14, men and women were entitIed to droits
égaux (English tcxt: "equal rights"), while
under paragraph 2 they were to enjoy the mêmes
droits (English text: "equal rights"). Those two
terms were close in meaning but not identical, and
ït was uncertain which of them would prevail in
-cases of legal dispute. The declaration of human
rights had to he clear and explicit, and no incon­
sistencies could be tolerated in the text.

Ml'. JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCI-IAGA (Uruguay) said
his delegation had voted in favour of the USSR
amendment because it considered that in questions
of marriage, equality was the minimum condition
ta he assured ta women. In Uruguay, divorce was
granted to women on request, without grounds
having to be produced, sa that women's rights in
that respect were superior to those of men. That
was a mark of social progress, of which Uru­
guay WétS rightly proud.

Ml'. DEHOUSSE (Be1gium) supported the
French representative's remarks concerning the
addition to paragraph 1 of article 14 of the clause
on non-discrimination in respect of race, nation­
ality or religion proposed by the Mexican delega­
tion. Like Ml'. Cassin, he thought that the clause
might he taken to imply that ail grounds for dis­
crimination as to marriage not cited in article 14
could he maintained, which could not fail to

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la seconde partie
de l'amendement présenté par l'URSS, tendant à
ajouter les mots "par la société et par l'Etat" à la
fin du paragraphe 3 de l'article 14.

Mme KALINOWSKA (Pologne) demande qu'il
soit procédé au vote par division sur cet amen­
dement.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la proposition de
l'URSS tendant à ajouter à la fin du paragraphe
3 les mots "par la société".

Par 22 voix cOlntre 13, cette proposition est
adoptée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix la proposition de
l'URSS tendant à ajouter les mots "et par l'Etat".

Par 25 voix contre 12, avec 5 abstentions, cette
proposition est adoptée.

Le PRÉSIDENT met ensuite aux voix l'ensemble
du texte de l'article 14 tel qu'il a été amendé.

Par 37 voix contre 3, avec 3 abstentions} l'ar­
ticle 14 ainsi amendé est adopté.

M. AZICOUL (Liban) explique que sa déléga­
tion a voté contre l'adoption de l'article 14, d'une
part parce que l'idée de l'égalité des droits de
l'homme et de la femme y est énoncée à deux
reprises sans qu'aucun motif valable ne justifie
une telle répétition, d'autre part parce que, tout
en affirmant cette égalité en ce qui concerne la
période effective du mariage et le \Dament éventuel
de sa dissolution, l'article ne tient pas compte de
la nécessité de l'assurer également au moment de
l'établissement du contrat de mariage.

La délégation du Liban se réserve le droit de
porter la question devant l'Assemblée générale.

M. CASSIN (France) déclare que sa délégation
a été amenée à voter contre l'article 14, non pour
des raisons de fond, mais parce qu'elle ne peut
en accepter le texte sous sa forme actuelle.

M. Cassin signale, notamment, que l'article 14
proclame, en son alinéa premier, que l'homme et
la femme jouissent de droits "égaux (texte an­
glais equal rights) , et en son alinéa 2, qu'ils
jouissent des "mêmes" droits (texte anglais: equa!
rights). Ces deux termes sont voisins mais ils ne
sont pas identiques, et on peut se demander, en
cas de contestation juridique, lequel prévaudra.
Or la déclaration des droits de l'homme doit
être claire et explicite, et l'on ne saurait tolérer
en son texte aucune contradiction.

M. JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCHAGA (Uruguay) déclare
que sa délégation a voté en faveur de l'amende­
ment de la délégation de l'URSS parce qu'elle
estime qu'en matière de mariage l'égalité est la
condition minima que l'on doive assurer à la
femme. En Uruguay, le divorce est accordé à la
femme sur simple demande} qu'elle n'a pas à
justifier; la femme jouit donc en cette matière de
droits supérieurs à l'homme. C'est là un progrès
social dont l'Uruguay s'honore à juste titre.

M. DEHOUSSE (Belgique) s'associe aux obser­
vations formulées par le représentant de la France
à propos de l'adjonction, au. pr~mier alin~a ~e
l'article 14 de la clause relattve a la non-dlscn­
mination e~ matière de race, de nationalité ou de
religion, proposée par la d,élégation ~u ,:Mexique;
Comme lui, il pense que 1on pourrait etre tente
d'en conclure que tous les t;'l0tifs ge, di~c~imi.na­
tion qui ne sont pas nommement Cltes a 1arttcle

377



378

weaken the general principle of non-discrimina­
tion affirmed in article 2 of the declaration.

Neverthe1ess, the Be1gian de1egation, whieh had
voted against the Mexican amendment, had sup­
ported the adoption of article 14 as a whole, in a
spirit of conciliation.

Mr. WATT (Australia) stated that his delega­
tion had voted in favour of the adoption of article
14 despite sorne doubts arising from the some­
what unfortunate wording of that article.

As regards the various amendments, the Aus­
tralian delegation had voted against the first
USSR amendment which merely reiterated an
idea already mentioned in the text; it had voted
against the second USSR amendment because it
thought that protection of the family should not
be limited to that offered by society and the State,
and against the Mexican amendment because it
considered it inadvisable to reaffirm, in a rather
restricted form, a principle already established in
article 2 of the declaration.

Mr. SANTA CRUZ (Chile) pointed out that his
de1egation had not taken part in the general dis­
cussion on article 14, as its point of view had been
adequately expressed by many other delegations.

The delegation of Chile had voted in favour of
the adoption of that article despite the gaps men­
tioned by the representative of France, because
it approved of it in principle. N everthe1ess, it
hoped that amendments to rectify drafting errors
wouId be proposed before the plenary meeting at
which the draft declaration would be submitted to
the General Assembly.

The Chilean delegation had voted in favour of
the Mexican amendment because it thought that
in drafting a declaration of human rights account
should be taken of the fact that reality did not
always correspond to the principles it was in­
tended to establish.

It had also voted in favour of the USSR
amendment, whieh proclaimed equality as to the
dissolution of marriage, without, however, up­
holding the right of divorce.

Mr. MACDONNELL (Canada) had voted against
the Mexican amendment, because he considered
that the subject had already been dealt with in
article 2. .

Mr. BAROODY (Saudi Arabia) stated that his
de1egation had voted in favour of the Syrian de1e­
gation's proposai to substitute the words "mature
age" for "full age" in the English text, as the
former specified the physical pre-condition of
marriage while the latter did not necessarily refer
either tothe legal or the marriageable age.

On the other hand, the de1egation of Saudi
Arabia had not cast its vote in favour of article
14 as a whole because it could not agree, for rea­
sons already stated, to any provisions of that arti­
cle whieh might possibly confliet with Islamie law;

Mr. CHANG (China) stated that his de1egation
had abstained from taking part in the final vote on

14 ne peuvent être retentIs en matière de mariag
ce qui a pour corollaire un affaiblissement in~:
vit~ble du ~rinci'p~ ~éné.ral de la non-discrimi.
nabon sanctIOnne a 1arbcle 2 de la déclaration,

Cep,endant, la, délégation de la Bel~ique, qui
a vote contre 1amendement du MeXique s'est
prononcée en faveur de l'a~option de l'article 14
dans son ensemble par SOUCI de conciliation.

M. WATT (Australie) explique que sa délé.
gation a voté pour l'adoption de l'article 14
malgré les doutes suscités par la rédaction peu
heureuse de cet article.

En ce qui concerne les différents amendements
la délégation australienne a voté contre le premie;
amendement de l'URSS, qui ne fait que répéter
une idée déjà exprimée dans le texte; elle a
voté contre le second amendement de l'URSS
parce qu'elle estime que la protection de la famille
ne doit pas être limitée à celle que peuvent
assurer l'Etat et la société; elle a voté contre
l'amendement du Mexique parce qu'elle estimait
peu sage de répéter, sous une forme du reste
limitée, un principe déjà consacré à l'article 2
de la déclaration.

M. SANTA CRUz' (Chili) souligne que sa délé­
gation n'a pas participé à la discussion générale
sur l'article 14, son point de vue ayant été par­
faitement exprimé par de nombreuses autres
délégations.

La délégation du Chili a voté en faveur de
l'adoption de cet article, malgré les lacunes
signalées par le représentant de la France, parce
qu'elle en approuve le principe. Elle espère néan­
moins que, avant la séance plénière au cours de
laquelle le projet de déclaration sera soumis à
l'Assemblée générale, des amendements seront
proposés pour en modifier les erreurs de
rédaction.

La délégation du Chili a voté en faveur de
l'amendement du Mexique parce qu'elle estime
qu'on doit, en établissant une déclaration des
droits de l'homme, tenir compte du fait qu'il
existe des réalités contraires aux principes que
l'on veut consacrer.

Elle a voté également en faveur de l'amende­
ment de l'URSS, qui établit l'égalité en matière
de dissolution du mariage mais ne consacre pas
pour cela le droit au divorce.

M. MAcnoNNELL (Canada) a voté contre
l'amendement mexicain, parce qu'il estime que le
sujet a déjà été traité dans l'article 2.

M. BAROODY (Arabie saoudite) déclare que, ~
délégation a voté pour la proposition de la d~le­
gation de la Syrie de substituer à l'expressIOn
full age, dans le texte anglais, l'expression matl!re
age parce que, par cette dernière, on déterm1l1e
les conditions physiques du mariage, alors, que la
première n'indique pas forcément l'âge legal OU

l'âge nubile.
La délégation de l'Arabie saoudite ne s'est pas

prononcée, d'autre part, en faveur de l'ensemble
de l'article 14, car il lui était impossible, pour les
raisons qu'elle a déjà énoncées, de donner son
accord à toute disposition de cet article pouvant
entrer en conflit avec la loi islamique.

M. CHANG (Chine) dit que sa délégation s:est
abstenue de prendre part au vote final sur 1ar-

A

m

lit
10

tO

re



article 14 because the gaps in that article were too
serious to be overlooked.

That fact demonstrated once again the impor­
tance of avoiding undue haste in drafting; a docu­
ment such as the one the Committee had to
prepare must be the outcome of long reflection
and thorough study.

The Chinese de1egation thought that the General
Assembly's attention should be drawn ID the
matter.

Mr. PAVLOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Repub­
lies) stated that at a11 stages of the worle on the
dra.ft declaration of human rights, the USSR dele­
gatlün had striven ta ensure absolute equality be­
tween men and wornen. Article 14, which estab­
lished equality as to marriage, was a progressive
article and in adopting it, the United Nations
would indeed be up to date in its worle.

The USSR de1egation wished to congratulate
.ail the women of the W'orld whose long struggle
for liberation had finally be~n crowned by a real
success.

Mrs. BEGTRUP (Denmark) recognized that the
text of article 14 in the form in which it had been
adopted contained a regrettable repetition. How­
ever, her delegation be1ieved that, even if it did
contain a repetition, a text which clearly estab­
lished equality between men and women in all the
stages of marriage was preferable to a better draft
which leit any room for doubt in that respect.

The Danish de1egation would neverthe1ess wel­
come any amendment likely to improve it without
restricting its scope.

ML CONTOUMAS (Greece) having expressed
the wish to take up the allusion made to his cot1n­
try in the Polish representative's speech, the
CHAIRMAN stated that, according to the mies of
procedure, the general discussion being closed, he
could only allow members to explain their vote.

Mr. CONTOUMAS (Greece) replied that if he
wished to avoid abusing his powers, the Chairman
must either prevent the representative of one
State Member of the United Nations from leve1­
Iing charges at another Member State, if neces­
sary calling such a representative to arder, or give
the floor to the representative against whose COtill­
try the charges have been made, so as to allow him
to answer them.

Mrs. NEWLANDS (New Zealand) explained that
her de1egation had abstained from taking part in
the final vote because it was unable to accept the
text of article 14 as amended by the Mexican
delegation, that is, Iimiting non-discrimination-a
principle established in article 2-to grounds of
race, nationality and religion.

The delegation of New Zealand also fully en­
dorsed the observations made by the representa­
tives of France and China.

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m.

ticle 14 en raison des trop sérieuses lacunes que
comporte cet article.

M. Chang souligne que cela illustre une fois de
plus combien il est important de ne pas hâter
outre mesure les travaux de rédaction, car un
document comme celui que la Commission est
chargée d'élaborer ne peut être que le fruit d'une
longue réflexion et d'études approfondies.

La délégation de la Chine estime que c'est là
une question sur laquelle il importe d'attirer
l'attention de l'Assemblée générale.

M. PAVLOV (Union des Républiques socialistes
soviétiques) déclare que, à tous les stades de
l'établissement du projet de déclaration des droits
de l'homme, la délégation de l'URSS a lutté
potu assurer. l'égalité absolue de l'homme et de la
femme. L'article 14, qui consacre cette égalité
en matière de mariage, est un article progressiste
et en l'adoptant l'Organisation des Nations Unies
aura fait ŒUvre véritablement contemporaine.

~a délégation de l'URSS tient, à cet égard, à
féliciter toutes les femmes du monde qui voient
enfin leurs longs efforts de libération couronnés
d'Un succès réel.

Mme BEGTRUP (Danemark) reconnaît que le
texte de l'article 14, tel qu'il a été adopté, com­
porte une répétition regrettable, mais, de l'avis
de sa délégation, un texte consacrant clairement
l'égalité de l'homme et de la femme dans toutes
les phases du mariage, même s'il contient une
répétition, est préférable à Un texte mieux rédigé
qui pourrait laisser substituer quelque doute à cet
égard.

Toutefois, la délégation du Danemark serait
heureuse d'accueillir tout amendement de nature
à améliorer ce texte sans en restreindre la portée.

M. CONTOUMAS (Grèce), ayant exprimé le
désir de relever l'allusion faite à son pays au
cours de l'intervention de la représentante de la
Pologne, le PRÉSIDENT indique que, aux termes
du règlement intérieur, la discussion générale
étant close, il ne peut autoriser à ce stade du
débat que les explications de vote.

M. CONTOUMAS (Grèce) répond que le Prési­
dent, à moins de commettre un abus, doit, ou
empêcher le représentant d'un Etat Membre des
Nations Unies de porter des accusations contre
un autre Etat Membre - et, le cas échéant, le
rappeler à l'ordre - ou donner la parole au
représentant du pays incriminé pour lui permettre
de répondre à ces accusations.

Mme NEWLANDS (Nouvelle-Zélande) explique
que sa délégation s'est abstenue au moment du
vote final parce qu'il ne lui était pas possible
d'accepter le texte de l'article 14 amendé dans
le sens proposé par la délégation du Mexique,
c'est-à-dire limitant aux seules considérations de
race, de nationalité et de religion les motifs de
non-discrimination dont le principe général est
consacré à l'article 2.

D'autre part, la délégation de la Nouv~l1e­
Zélande s'associe entièrement aux observatlOns
formulées par les représentants de la France et
de la Chine.

La séance est levée à 13 h. 15.

379




